IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY LLC, SERIES 34 INNISBROOK,

Appellant,

VS.

THORNBURG MORTGAGE
SECURITIES TRUST 2007-3;
FRANK TIMPA; MADELAINE
TIMPA; TIMPA TRUST; RED ROCK
FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC;
SPANISH TRAIL MASTER
ASSOCIATION; REPUBLIC
SERVICES; AND LAS VEGAS
VALLEY WATER DISTRICT

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No. 80111

Electronically Filed Jan 29 2021 06:39 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Counsel for Appellant:

Roger P. Croteau, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 4958 ROGER P. CROTEAU & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 2810 W. Charleston Blvd., Ste. 75 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102

> Tel: (702) 254-7775 Fax: (702) 228-7719

Email: croteaulaw@croteaulaw.com

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- (A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The September 11, 2019 Order granting Respondent Timpa Trust U/T/D March 3, 1999's (the "Timpa Trust") Motion for Summary Judgment (the "MSJ") under NRAP 3A(b)(1). JA2050.
- (B) Saticoy sought reconsideration of the September 11, 2019 Order by way Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration Under NRCP 59(e) and 60(b) of (I) The Court's Summary Judgment Order of December 3, 2018, and (II) The Court's Order Concerning the Distribution of Excess Proceeds submitted on September 24, 2019. JA2069.
- (C)The filing dates establish the timeliness of the appeal: The Order granting in part and denying in part Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration was entered on November 18, 2019, with the Notice of Entry of Order being entered on November 19, 2019. JA2225-2232. The Notice of Appeal was filed on November 19, 2019. JA2233.
 - (D) The appeal is from a final judgment.

III. NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

The instant matter should be retained by the Supreme Court of Nevada, because this appeal raises two principal issues as questions of first impression involving the common law and statutory interpretation of NRS Chapter 116 pertaining to (1) the distribution of proceeds from a homeowner association's sale and (2) the exercise of equity in unwinding homeowner association foreclosure sales based upon the inequitable distribution of excess proceeds premised upon an improper distribution scheme as compared to the correct scheme of static interests regarding priority, especially in light of the failure to respond to inquiries by prospective purchases at homeowner association lien foreclosure sales prior to the 2015 amendment of NRS 116. NRAP 17(a)(11). The issue presented in this appeal represent present two cases of first impression in the State of Nevada regarding (1) the distribution of excess proceeds following and (2) the exercise of equity in unwinding a homeowner association's sale where either an inequitable distribution of excess proceeds or the failure to address inquiries by buyers lead to an inequitable outcome.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the district court erred by granting Timpa Trust's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Timpa MSJ"), Thornburg's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Thornburg MSJ"), in part, and denying Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Amend Complaint in light of the following:

- 1. Did the district court err in denying Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Amend the Complaint to comport to the evidence in light of the then-recent decision in of *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Thomas Jessup, LLC Series VII*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 435 P.3d 1217 (2019) ("*Jessup*") leaving the question open as to whether an interested party, including the third party buyer such as Saticoy, could have an homeowner association's sale set aside on equity grounds on a case-by-case basis?
- 2. Does NRS 116.3116 dictate the priority of interest holders to be paid under NRS 116.31164 in such a way that the strict reading of the two provisions in conjunction necessarily results in a lien, which is subordinate to an association lien perfected by the recordation of a homeowner association's declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions of record, remaining a subordinate lien since such a determination is made at the "institution of an action" by the service of a notice of delinquent assessment lien?

- 3. Did the district court abuse its discretion by failing to allow Saticoy to amend its Third Amended Complaint to address the facts in evidence, and thus address arguments against the homeowner association and the collection agent while seeking to unwind the sale if the interest sold was misrepresented, and thus facilitated an inequitable outcome while sitting as a court in equity?
- 4. Did the district court abuse its discretion and also commit errors of law by dismissing Saticoy's claims against Red Rock Financial Services ("Red Rock") and the Spanish Trail Master Association (the "Association"), without any motion practice or opportunity to address Saticoy's claims by any party to the case?
- 5. Did the district court abuse its discretion by granting Red Rock's Motion for its attorney fees from the excess proceeds based upon its claim of interpleader, rather than limiting its fees to the costs of the interpleader action to deposit the amount of \$1.16 million dollars of excess proceeds?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 20, 2014 Saticoy filed its initial Complaint. JA0001. Saticoy's Initial Complaint asserted two (2) claims for relief against Respondent Thornburg Mortgage Securities Trust 2007-3 ("Thornburg") and then-defendant Recontrust Company, N.A., a division of Bank of America, for declaratory relief and quiet title. *Id.* On November 25, 2014, Saticoy filed an Amended Complaint which again set forth claims for declaratory relief and quiet title, adding Respondents Frank Timpa ("Frank") and Madelaine Timpa ("Madelaine"), individually and as trustees for the Timpa Trust (collectively as the "Trustee"), as defendants. JA0005.

Thornburg answered the Amended Complaint on April 10, 2015, and set forth counterclaims against 1) Saticoy for quiet title, declaratory relief, permanent and preliminary injunction, and unjust enrichment, 2) the Association for quiet title, declaratory relief, wrongful foreclosure, negligence, negligence per se, breach of contract, misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and 3) Red Rock, as the Association's foreclosing agent for wrongful foreclosure, negligence, negligence per se, breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

JA0014. Thornburg likewise sought to have the Association Sale held invalid and set aside by way of its counterclaims. JA00038.

On May 21, 2015, Red Rock answered Thornburg's claims against it, and Red Rock itself counterclaimed with an Interpleader of proceeds from the Association Sale as to all defendants. JA0094.

On June 11, 2015, Saticoy filed the Second Amended Complaint against Thornburg, Frank, Madeline, and the Timpa Trust seeking quiet title and declaratory relief against all defendants, and a writ of restitution against Frank, Madeline, and the Timpa Trust for the possession of the Property. JA0109.

Republic Services Answered Red Rock's Interpleader on June 23,2015.

JA0113. Thornburg Answered Red Rock's Interpleader on June 24,2015. JA0116.

On February 10, 2017, Saticoy filed the Third Amended Complaint, again seeking quiet title and declaratory relief against all defendants, and a writ of restitution against Frank, Madeline, and the Timpa Trust for the possession of the Property, and adding claims against the Association and Red Rock for misrepresentation and unjust enrichment. JA0139. Saticoy requested the underlying sale be set aside. JA0142-143.

Republic Services submitted an Answer to the Third Amended Complaint on February 24, 2017. JA0145. On March 3, 2017, Red Rock answered the Third Amended Complaint. JA0149.

Thornburg answered the Third Amended Complaint on May 30, 2017, and again asserted claims against 1) Saticoy for quiet title, declaratory relief, permanent and preliminary injunction, and unjust enrichment, 2) the Association for quiet title, declaratory relief, wrongful foreclosure, negligence, negligence per se, breach of contract, misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and 3) Red Rock, as the Association's foreclosing agent for wrongful foreclosure, negligence, negligence per se, breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. JA0167. Thornburg likewise sought to have the Association Sale held invalid and set aside by way of its counterclaims. JA0192-3

Red Rock answered Thornburg's counterclaim and again sought to interplead the funds on June 12, 2017. JA0247. Thornburg answered Red Rock's counterclaim on July 5, 2017, and requested that:

[I]f the Court determines that Thornburg's Deed of Trust was in fact a "subordinate lien" under NRS 116.3116 and NRS 116.31164, that the Court make a judicial determination regarding the priority in payment of the excess proceeds that Thornburg's Deed of Trust has priority over all other interests and encumbrances and is entitled to all the excess proceeds up

to the unpaid balance of the Deed of Trust and the Note it secures.

JA0266. Saticoy Answered Thornburg's Counterclaims on September 7, 2017. JA0271.

Dispositive motion commenced when both Saticoy and Thornburg moved for Summary Judgment against one another and all other parties on May 4, 2018. JA0278 and JA0478. Republic Services opposed Saticoy's Motion for Summary Judgment on May 14, 2018. JA0732. Thornburg opposed Saticoy's Motion for Summary Judgment on May 21, 2018. JA0736. Saticoy opposed Thornburg's MSJ on May 22, 2018. JA0997. The Association opposed Thornburg's MSJ and countermotion for Summary Judgment on May 22, 2018. JA1156. The Association consistently referred to the claims of Thornburg, i.e., the "Bank" throughout its briefing, and did not address the claims of Saticoy. *Id*.

Thornburg filed a Reply supporting its Motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to the Association's countermotion for Summary Judgment. JA1197. Red Rock joined the Association's countermotion for Summary Judgment on May 30, 2018. JA1210. Republic Services' partial opposition to the Countermotion for Summary Judgment was filed on May 30, 2018. JA1213. The Association filed its Reply in support of its countermotion for Summary Judgment on June 26, 2018. JA1249. Saticoy supplemented its Opposition to Thornburg's MSJ on June 27,

2018. JA1271. Thornburg filed an Errata to its Motion for Summary Judgment on June 28, 2018. JA1276. Thornburg filed a Sur-reply supporting its Motion for Summary Judgment on June 29, 2018. JA1305. Thornburg filed an Errata, alternatively a Sur-reply, supporting its Motion for Summary Judgment on July 2, 2018. JA1351. The motions were denied at the hearing of July 3, 2018.

After the briefing and decision on Saticoy's Motion for Summary Judgment, Thornburg's Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Association's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Association answered Saticoy's Third Amended Complaint on July 19, 2018. Saticoy's Third Amended Complaint contained the claims against the Association for misrepresentation and unjust enrichment, and Thornburg's counterclaim. JA1359 and JA1367.

Thornburg moved for reconsideration of the denial of its Motion for Summary Judgment, before a written order was entered, on September 17, 2018. JA1384. Saticoy opposed Thornburg's Motion for Reconsideration on October 2, 2018. JA1651. Thornburg replied in support of its Motion for Reconsideration on October 26, 2018. JA1691. The matter was heard on November 6, 2018, and the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Thornburg's MSJ ("MSJ Order") was filed on December 3, 2018. JA1719. In the MSJ Order the district court found that Saticoy's interest in the Property was subject to

Thornburg's deed of trust, and more importantly that "all remaining claims not specifically mentioned, including all claims in Thornburg's counterclaim and crossclaims and Saticoy's complaint, are dismissed with prejudice." *Id.* Neither the Association nor Red Rock moved to have Saticoy's claims against them dismissed, or filed any such request. A Notice of the MSJ Order was filed on December 5, 2018. JA1729.

Madelaine and Timpa Trust answered Red Rock's Counterclaim for interpleader (as filed on May 21, 2015) and made claim to the surplus funds on January 31, 2019. JA1743. Timpa Trust moved for summary judgment on June 25, 2019. JA1752. Red Rock responded to Timpa's MSJ on July 9, 2019. JA1850. Timpa Trust replied in response to Red Rock's opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment on July 9, 2019. JA1867. Saticoy opposed Timpa's MSJ and Red Rock's limited response to Timpa's MSJ on July 26, 2019. JA1886. Timpa Trust replied to Saticoy's Opposition to Timpa's MSJ on August 6, 2019. JA2039. On September 11, 2019, an Order granting Timpa's MSJ ("Excess Proceeds Order") was entered, awarding Timpa Trust the excess proceeds in the amount of \$1.2 million dollars, which was noticed on the same date. JA2050 and JA2058.

Saticoy moved for Reconsideration of the MSJ Order and the Excess Proceeds Order on September 24, 2019. JA2069. Thornburg submitted a limited opposition to Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration on October 4, 2019. JA2117. Timpa Trust opposed Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration on October 8, 2019. JA2145. Saticoy submitted a Motion to Amend the Complaint on October 16, 2019 in light of the Jessup decision and its guidance regarding an equitable unwind as requested by Thornburg and Saticoy in its pleadings. JA2167. Saticoy also responded to Thornburg's limited opposition to Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration on October 18, 2019. JA2190. Thornburg opposed Saticoy's Motion to Amend the Complaint on October 25, 2019. JA2195. Saticoy replied in support of the Motion for Reconsideration on October 25, 2019. JA2199. Timpa Trust opposed Saticoy's Motion to Amend on October 27, 2019. JA2212. Red Rock likewise Opposed on October 28, 2019. JA2218. The district court denied the Motion to Amend the Complaint its Order of November 18, 2019, finding the request for amendment to be procedurally improper as "there is a separate final order and the case is final." JA2225-6. The district court then went forward with refusing to grant reconsideration, acknowledging that the clarification of the law set forth in Bank of Am., N.A. v. Thomas Jessup, LLC Series VII, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, 435 P.3d 1217 (2019) was not considered. *Id.* The notice of entry of order,

and the notice of appeal, were both timely filed on November 19, 2019. JA2228 and JA2233.

VI. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This matter concerns the real property commonly known as 34 Innisbrook Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada (the "Property"). On June 6, 2006, Frank entered into a loan secured by the Property. JA1720. Frank obtained the loan from Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., ("Lender") in the original amount of \$3,780,000.00 (the "Loan"), on June 12, 2006. JA 1720. The Loan was secured by a Deed of Trust against the Property that was recorded in the Clark County, Nevada Recorder's Office ("First Deed of Trust"). JA1720. On June 4, 2010, MERS, on behalf of Recontrust executed a Corporation Assignment of Deed of Trust Nevada to Thornburg as Lender, which was recorded on June 9, 2010. JA1892. The borrowers on the Loan, Frank and Madeline, are deceased, and the Property was and is held by the Timpa Trust, whose successor trustees are Todd Timpa and Stuart Timpa. JA2053.

The Property is located within a common interest community governed by the Association. JA1720. On February 25, 1984, the Master Declaration of Restrictions for Spanish Trail, which runs with the land and governs the Property, was recorded in the Clark County, State of Nevada Recorder's Office. ("CC&R").

JA1720. On or about August 17, 1988, the Declaration of Restrictions for Estates West at Spanish Trial, which runs with the land and governs the Property, was recorded in Clark County, State of Nevada Recorder's Office. ("Estates CC&R"). JA1890.

The Timpa Trust failed to pay the Association the assessments on the Property, such that on August 4, 2011, Red Rock, on behalf of the Association, recorded a lien for delinquent assessments indicating the Timpa Trust owed \$5,543.92 (the "Association Lien"). JA1526 and JA1721. The Association Lien indicated it was recorded "in accordance with" the CC&Rs. Id. At the time the Association Lien was recorded, the Association's assessments were \$225.00 per month. *Id.* There were no nuisance abatement charges. *Id.* The superpriority lien amount of the Association's Lien was \$2,025.00 (\$225.00 x 9) for the assessments coming due December 1, 2010 through August 1, 2011. *Id.* From July 9, 2013 through December 13, 2013, the Trust made payments totaling \$2,350.00. *Id.* Red Rock accepted the payments and applied the payments to the delinquent assessments coming due December 1, 2010 through August 1, 2011. *Id.* On December 6, 2011, Red Rock recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Pursuant to the Lien for Delinquent Assessments asserting the Association was owed \$8,312.52. *Id.* On December 23, 2011, BAC Home Loan Servicing

("BANA"), then the loan servicer, through its counsel Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters ("Miles Bauer") sent a correspondence to Red Rock seeking to determine the superpriority lien amount, and offered to "pay that sum upon adequate proof." Id. Red Rock received the letter on December 27, 2011, and on January 26, 2012, Red Rock responded with a ledger indicating the total amount due was \$9,255.44. Id. On February 10, 2012, Miles Bauer, sent Red Rock a \$2,025.00 check ("HOA" Payment"). Id. Red Rock received the check on February 10, 2012. Id. Red Rock rejected the HOA Payment. *Id.* On September 15, 2014, Red Rock (on behalf of the Association) recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale setting forth a sale date of October 8, 2014, with \$20,309.95 being due as of September 15, 2014. JA1722. On November 7, 2014, in light of the decision in SFR Invs. Pool 1, Ltd. Liab. Co. v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev. 742, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), Saticoy purchased the Property at the Association's sale ("Association Sale") conducted by Red Rock for \$1,201,000.00. *Id.* After deducting all sums due to the Association and Red Rock, there remained \$1,168,865.05, ("Excess Proceeds") which was deposited with the district court in accordance with the interpleader action on June 20, 2019. JA2052.

Following the Association Sale on November 7, 2014, Saticoy commenced this litigation on November 20, 2014. JA0001. During the course of the litigation,

Thornburg disclosed that the Timpa Trust's Loan had an unpaid balance of \$6,279.233.20 as of April 30, 2018. JA1386 and JA1453. As of November 7, 2014, the Property was worth approximately \$2,000,000.00. JA1722. Red Rock has been awarded \$29,161.69 of the Excess Proceeds as attorney fees. JA2053. Due to the death of Frank and Madeline, the excess proceeds are currently set to be distributed to the Timpa Trust, such that the remaining \$1,139,703.36 can be distributed to the beneficiaries of the Timpa Trust, who are strangers to the First Deed of Trust. JA2055. Likewise, Saticoy is now the title owner of the Property, which is over encumbered by approximately \$4 million dollars, and Thornburg is likewise facing a deficiency of \$4 million dollars upon the eventual foreclosure of the First Deed of Trust. JA2055.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., Inc. v. Williams*, 279 P.3d 174, 175 (Nev. 2012); *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate under NRCP 56 when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and 8 affidavits, if any, that are properly before the court demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Wood*, 121 P.3d at 1031.

This Court reviews a district court's findings of fact to see if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Cty. of Clark v. Sun State Props., Ltd.*, 72 P.3d 954, 957 (Nev. 2003); *see In re Estate of Bethurem*, 313 P.3d 237, 242 (Nev. 2013) (explaining findings of fact reviewed for substantial evidence). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Jones v. SunTrust Mortg., Inc.*, 274 P.3d 762, 764 (Nev. 2012). A district court's conclusions of law are not entitled to any deference, and are reviewed de novo. *Cty. of Clark*, 72 P.3d at 957; *Paige v. State*, 995 P.2d 1020, 1021 (Nev. 2000) ("Questions of law are subject to de novo review.").

VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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