IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY, LLC SERIES 34 INNISBROOK,

Appellant,

v.

THORNBURG MORTGAGE
SECURITIES TRUST 2007-3,
FRANK TIMPA; MADELAINE
TIMPA; TIMPA TRUST; RED
ROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES,
LLC; SPANISH TRAIL MASTER
ASSOCIATION; REPUBLIC
SERVICES; AND LAS VEGAS
VALLEY WATER DISTRICT,

Respondents.

Case No. 8 pr 16 2021 01:42 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TIMPA TRUST'S ANSWERING BRIEF

BRYAN NADDAFI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13004
ELENA NUTENKO, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 14934
AVALON LEGAL GROUP LLC
6030 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite D1
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Telephone No. (702) 522-6450

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

In sum, Saticoy asked the district court and is now asking this Court to interpret NRS 116.31164(7) in a manner that disregards the plain language of the statute, a long history of precedent, and common sense. The district court properly denied Saticoy's arguments and properly applied NRS 116.31164 to determine the priority of interest

⁹ Any deficiency Thornburg or Saticoy may claim is purely speculative without an actual foreclosure.

holders to the Excess Proceeds.

B. Saticoy is Not and Never Was a Proper Party to Assert a Claim to the Excess Proceeds, Whether on Behalf of Itself or on Behalf of Thornburg

In the district court, Saticoy argued that Thornburg – and later that Saticoy itself – is entitled to receive the Excess Proceeds. However, Saticoy lacks standing to assert any claim to the Excess Proceeds for itself or on behalf of any other party. On July 3, 2019, in a similar matter which involved a post-sale redemption by a unit-owner, this Court wrote:

[O]nce Saticoy Bay received the certificate of sale, it received all it was entitled to at that time under the redemption statute an interest in the property. Therefore, whether the proceeds of the sale must be distributed toward a subordinate claim of record pursuant to subsection 4, such as that of [the lender] here, or to [the unit owner] as remittance of any excess proceeds pursuant to subsection 5, is not for Saticoy Bay to assert because those funds no longer belong to Saticoy Bay.

. . .

Rather, that argument is for [the lender] to make.

Saticoy Bay LLC v. Nev. Ass'n Servs., 135 Nev., Adv. Op. 23 (2019). Just like in the July 3, 2019 matter, in the instant matter Saticoy wrongly argued how the funds it expended should be distributed because said funds no longer belonged to Saticoy once Saticoy tendered them to Red

Rock. As stated by this Court, any argument as to how the funds should be expended is for the lender to make (*id*.), which in the instant matter is Thornburg. Thornburg did not make an argument to the district court as to how the funds should be distributed nor did Thornburg pursue any legal claim against Timpa Trust.

C. Interpleader Actions Require a Claimant to Make a Claim to Excess Proceeds on Its Own Behalf, and Both Saticoy and Thornburg Failed To Make Such a Claim

"Interpleader is an equitable proceeding to determine the rights of rival claimants to property held by a third person having no interest therein" and "each claimant is treated as a plaintiff and must recover on the strength of his own right or title and not upon the weakness of his adversary's." *Balish v. Farnham*, 92 Nev. 133, 137, 546 P.2d 1297, 1299 (1976). Accordingly, a claimant must make a claim to the funds for themselves. Saticoy could only make a claim to the Excess Proceeds on behalf of itself, which it did not do. In its June 19, 2019 Order, the district court stated that "any of the parties/claimants may proceed via written motion for summary adjudication pursuant to N.R.C.P. 56 with regard to their claims in the interpleader of the Surplus Funds." JA1802. Thereafter, the only party to file a motion for summary adjudication

regarding its claim to the Excess Proceeds was Timpa Trust. JA1752. Saticoy filed an Opposition to Timpa Trust's MSJ wherein it argued that Thornburg should receive the Excess Proceeds. JA1904. Saticoy itself did not make any claim to the Excess Proceeds. For its part, Thornburg filed no opposition to Timpa Trust's MSJ and, as stated in the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order (JA2053), waived its claim to the Excess Proceeds. These facts alone mandate denial of all of Saticoy's arguments that either Thornburg or Saticoy should receive the Excess Proceeds.

Additionally, at the August 20, 2019 hearing which adjudicated Timpa Trust's MSJ, Thornburg's counsel affirmatively "waived a request for the excess proceeds" as stated in the district court's minute order from that hearing. See Doc. No. 19-48647, Case Summary within Notice of Appeal, August 20, 2019 Minute Order as seen on page 31 of Case Summary included in Filed Notice of Appeal (page 42 of the PDF). In this appeal, Saticoy has failed to request a transcript of the August 20, 2019 hearing. Because Saticoy has failed to include the transcript of the relevant hearing, and because only Thornburg could make a claim on behalf of itself (which it did not do), this Court should assume the record supports the district court's finding in favor of Timpa Trust. See M & R

Investment Co. v. Mandarino, 103 Nev. 711, 748 P.2d 488 (1987) (where appellant fails to include a relevant hearing transcript in the record on appeal, Supreme Court assumes that the record supports the district court's decision).

In sum, an interpleader action requires a claimant to make a claim to excess proceeds. Saticoy's argument that either Saticoy or Thornburg should receive the Excess Proceeds fails because neither Saticoy nor Thornburg made a claim to the Excess Proceeds for themselves in the district court. Saticoy's Opposition to Timpa Trust's MSJ did not state that Saticoy was making a claim to the Excess Proceeds. JA1904. Thornburg never made a claim to the Excess Proceeds and, in fact, affirmatively waived any claim to the Excess Proceeds. (JA2053). The district court properly adjudged Timpa Trust's claim to the Excess Proceeds and correctly determined in its 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order that Timpa Trust was entitled to the Excess Proceeds as a matter of law.

¹⁰ In its later-filed Motion for Reconsideration in which it asked for reconsideration of the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order, Saticoy for the first time raised the new argument that Saticoy itself was entitled to the Excess Proceeds. JA2069. However, Saticoy had failed to make this argument to the district court previously.

IV. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Denying Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Amend

It is important to point out that Saticov does not appeal or seek to undo the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order as a matter of law. Instead, Saticov argues that because of an alleged intervening change in law (the Jessup case), the district court should have granted Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration or Motion to Amend in order to allow Saticov to litigate its claims against Red Rock and the HOA for monetary remedies and/or unwind the sale. See Opening Brief at 12, 16-17, 21-24, 56-57. The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Saticoy's Motion for Motion Reconsideration and its to Amend because Saticov's interpretation of the intervening caselaw (Jessup) was incorrect, the district court lacked jurisdiction to allow Saticov to amend the complaint after final judgment, and Saticoy's requests were procedurally improper.

A. Saticoy's Reliance on *Jessup* for Purposes of Reconsideration of the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order and NRCP 60(B) Relief Is Wrong

A motion for reconsideration is not a "vehicle permitting the unsuccessful party to reiterate arguments previously presented." See, e.g, Merozoite v. Thorp, 52 F.3d 252, 255 (9th Cir. 1995); Sphouris v. Aurora Loan Services, 2011 WL 5007300, *2 (D. Nev. Oct. 20, 2011) (denying

Rule 60(b) motion based on alleged mistake and fraud where party merely "reargue[d] previous assertions that were rejected by the [c]ourt"); see also, e.g. Khan v. Fasano, 194 F.Supp.2d 1134, 1136 (S.D. Cal. 2001) ("A party cannot have relief under [Rule 60(b)] merely because he or she is unhappy with the judgment").

Saticoy argued to the district court that the decision in *Bank of Am.*, *N.A. v. Thomas Jessup*, *LLC Series VII*, which was decided in March 2019 ("*Jessup 2019*"), was an intervening change in law warranting NRCP 60(b) relief necessitating the district court to vacate the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order to allow Saticoy to unwind the sale of the Subject Property. This argument to the district court was categorically wrong when Saticoy made it in late 2019 and it remains wrong today. The recent change to the disposition of *Jessup 2019* on May 7, 2020 further illustrates Saticoy's fundamental misunderstanding of *Jessup*.

In March 2019, this Court published its opinion in *Jessup 2019*. In a footnote, this Court wrote:

As the Bank's deed of trust was not extinguished, we need not address the viability of the Bank's claims against ACS and Foxfield. Similarly, we need not address the Bank's remaining arguments in support of its deed of trust remaining intact as neither the Bank nor the Purchaser have

expressed whether they would prefer to have the sale set aside or have the Purchaser take title to the property subject to the first deed of trust.

Bank of Am., N.A. v. Thomas Jessup, LLC Series VII, 435 P.3d 1217, 1221 n.5 (Nev. 2019).

The district court correctly denied Saticoy's argument in its Motion for Reconsideration that this footnote in Jessup 2019 mandated reversal of the foreclosure sale of the Subject Property in the instant matter. This Court's footnote in Jessup 2019 made no determination regarding a standard to set aside an NRS 116 foreclosure sale after a bank note was found to survive a sale. In fact, other courts such as the United States District Court, District of Nevada likewise did not interpret the Jessup 2019 footnote to require a set aside of a foreclosure sale. In Bank of New York Mellon v. Laws, Case No. 2:17-cv-01032-APG-CWH (D. Nev. July 19, 2019), the federal court summarized the application of Jessup 2019 as follows: "an offer to pay the superpriority lien, 'combined with [a] rejection of that offer, operated to cure the default as to that portion of the lien such that the ensuing foreclosure sale did not extinguish the first deed of trust"). *Id.* The federal court made no reference to the footnote on which Saticov based its Motion for Reconsideration. In sum, Jessup

2019 did not identify an affirmative duty for courts to set aside foreclosure sales, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Saticoy's moonshot theory that Jessup 2019 required the district court to reconsider and vacate the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order and allow Saticoy to unwind the foreclosure sale.

However, this was not the end of Jessup. On May 7, 2020, this Court issued a new order, that among other things, vacated and replaced Jessup 2019. Bank of America, N.A. v. Thomas Jessup, LLC Series VII, 462 P.3d 255 (Nev. 2020) (en banc) (unpublished). In its May 7, 2020 order, this Court held that the lender's first deed of trust was terminated due to the superpriority foreclosure sale and that the district court did not err in determining that the lender could not set aside the sale under Id.However, this Court held that, because the equitable grounds. lender's deed of trust was terminated, the lender "may be entitled...to any excess proceeds from the foreclosure sale..." Id. Indeed, this Court's ultimate decision regarding sale proceeds in Jessup tracks with Timpa Trust's analysis in the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order regarding the distribution of Excess Proceeds (JA2050) and the parties' Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum (JA1847).

Neither incarnation of *Jessup* supports Saticoy's argument to reconsider the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order as *Jessup* was not an intervening change of law. Furthermore, Saticoy's request under NRCP 60 was procedurally improper as it was filed well after the mandated sixmonth deadline. *See* NRCP 60. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Saticoy's request to reconsider the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order.

B. The District Court Correctly Denied Saticoy's Request to Reconsider the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order

In addition to affecting the 2018 Thornburg MSJ Order, Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration sought to undo the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order. A motion for reconsideration may only be brought in circumstances where either substantially different evidence is subsequently introduced, or the court's decision is clearly erroneous. See Masonry and Tile Contractors Ass'n of Southern Nevada v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth, Ltd., 113 Nev. 737, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997). In its request to reconsider the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order, Saticoy failed to introduce any new evidence. Indeed, the facts the district court needed to consider in ruling on Timpa Trust's MSJ were extremely limited and not in dispute. Accordingly, it was incumbent upon Saticoy to show that the

district court's decision was clearly erroneous for purposes of its Motion for Reconsideration. As discussed *supra*, the district court's reasoning in deciding the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order was not only not clearly erroneous, but its reasoning strictly followed NRS 116.31164 in light of the plain language of the statute, a long history of precedent, and common sense.

Moreover, in Saticoy's Motion for Reconsideration, Saticoy made its argument regarding equitable subrogation for the first time. The district court was under no obligation to hear Saticoy's equitable subrogation argument as "[p]oints or contentions not raised in the original hearing cannot be maintained or considered on rehearing." *Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Ltd.*, 112 Nev. 737, 742, 917 P.2d 447, 450 (1996).

Regardless, Saticoy's analysis of equitable subrogation was inherently wrong. Equitable subrogation "permits a person who pays off an encumbrance to assume the same priority position as the holder of the previous encumbrance." American Sterling Bank v. Johnny Management LV, 245 P.3d 539 (Nev. 2010) (internal citations omitted). Saticoy did not pay off Thornburg's encumbrance. Saticoy purchased property at a foreclosure auction. Simply put, the doctrine of equitable

subrogation did not apply to Saticoy under these circumstances.

In sum, the district court did not abuse its discretion in failing to reconsider the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order as the decision was not clearly erroneous and because equitable subrogation was inapplicable.

C. The District Court Lacked Jurisdiction to Grant Saticoy's Request to Amend Its Complaint Because Final Judgment Was Already Entered

Furthermore, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Saticoy's request to amend the Third Amended Complaint as Saticoy sought such relief after the final judgment – the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order – was entered. A "district court lacks jurisdiction to allow amendment of a complaint, once final judgment is entered, unless that judgment is first set aside or vacated pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure." Greene v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 115 Nev. 391, 396, 990 P.2d 184, 187 (1999) (emphasis added). "[A] final judgment is one that disposes of all the issues presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court, except for postjudgment issues such as attorney's fees and costs." Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000). It was uncontested that the 2019 Timpa Trust MSJ Order was a final judgment, and the district court was correct not to allow amendment of the complaint by Saticoy.

D. The District Court Could Not Allow Amendment of The Complaint Under NRCP 15(B)(2) Because Setting Aside the Foreclosure Sale Was Not a New Issue

The district court validly denied Saticoy's request to amend its complaint because Saticoy's request under NRCP 15(b)(2) was procedurally invalid. Saticoy's attempt to amend the complaint for purposes of relitigating the entire matter was not allowed under NRCP 15(b)(2), which reads:

When an issue not raised by the pleadings is tried by the parties' express or implied consent, it must be treated in all respects as if raised in the pleadings. A party may move — at any time, even after judgment — to amend the pleadings to conform them to the evidence and to raise an unpleaded issue. But failure to amend does not affect the result of the trial of that issue.

NRCP 15(b)(2). Saticoy's argument in its Motion to Amend that the concept of setting aside the sale was present "nearly the entire duration of this litigation" automatically precluded NRCP 15(b)(2) relief. JA2168. Furthermore, the NRCP 15(b)(2) prohibition of affecting the result of the trial also precluded Saticoy's request. In sum, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Saticoy's request to amend the complaint pursuant to NRCP 15(b)(2).

V. The Balance of Equities Favors Timpa Trust, Not Saticoy Or Thornburg

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